

A Practical Guide to Planning Initiatives for Working Together To Advance Racial Equity

Divided Community Project, Moritz College of Law and Mershon Center for International Security Studies



A Practical Guide to Planning Initiatives for Working Together To Advance Racial Equity by Divided Community Project, The Ohio State University Moritz College of Law and the Mershon Center for International Security Studies is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 4.0 International License:



Suggested Citation: Divided Community Project and Mershon Center for International Security Studies, Working Together To Advance Racial Equity: Planning Truth Commissions and Other Initiatives (2021) CC BY-NC-SA 4.0, go.osu.edu/dcptrc.

Those seeking to modify this report for targeted audiences may do so for nonprofit purposes as long as they give attribution and they allow the same "share alike" use of their content by others.

Other publications by the Divided Community Project are all available at go.osu.edu/dcptoolkit, as follows:

- · For Communities
 - Divided Communities and Social Media: Strategies for Community Leaders (2nd ed., 2020).
 - Key Considerations for Leaders in the Face of Community Unrest (2nd ed., 2020).
 - Planning in Advance of Community Unrest (2nd ed., 2020).
 - Identifying a Community Spirit (2019).
 - Community Resiliency Initiative Case Studies (2018).
- For Campuses
 - Key Considerations for College and University Leaders: Preparing the Campus at a Time of National Polarization (2020).
 - Key Considerations for College and University Leaders: When Conflict and Divisive Incidents Arise (2020).
- Simulations for Leadership During Crisis are available upon request. Contact DCP's Deputy Director at Froehlich.28@osu.edu.
- Hosting American Spirit Conversations: A Brief Guide with 18 Ideas (2019), www.AmericanSpirit.osu.edu.

Support for this report was provided by:

The Ohio State University Moritz College of Law
The Ohio State University Mershon Center for International Security Studies
and The JAMS Foundation



Additional support for the Divided Community Project is provided by:

The AAA-ICDR Foundation, The Jacques M. Littlefield Foundation, and The Ohio State Energy Partners.

Cover art: The background painting is predominantly in the sky blue color range to represent optimism. But it is partially out-of-focus, representing the challenges in a process with no preconceived notions. The ascending lines intersect to represent the sharing of ideas and converge at the top of the page to represent successful collaborative efforts. Illustration by Brian Deep Art & Design

Contents

Executive Summary	4
I. Getting started quickly	5
2. Pursuing multiple objectives, sequenced over a period of years	7
3. Ideas for starting quickly while building in flexibility	9
4. Engaging a broad enough coalition to listen, learn, and achieve change	11
5. Dealing with the past and present without losing momentum toward a better future	14
6. Justice as part of the work	16
7. Beginning the healing	18
8. An Operational Checklist	21
Endnotes	24
Resources	26
Acknowledgements	27

Executive Summary

A confluence of events, including a pandemic, protests, and business and school closings disrupted our country in 2020 and, despite deep political differences, there is broadened support for structural changes to advance racial equity. This may be an ideal time for Americans to pursue this goal at the local, state, and national levels. A multi-pronged, sequenced approach has a mutually reinforcing effect. Whether it is called a truth commission or something else – that process facilitates the collaborative problem-solving over a period of years to achieve the equitable society that will afford each person the opportunity to thrive.

There is no single blueprint for the kind of transformative process that seeks to provide equity and "raises all boats." Planners will tailor the process to the context and their goals. Promising ideas for planners dealing with the inevitable challenges that arise in an initiative to advance racial equity include:

- Now: Seize this ripe moment by beginning the planning and the initiative quickly but acknowledge publicly the determination to be flexible as those involved continue to learn more, encounter rough spots, and find new opportunities (Chapter 1).
- 2. Sequencing: Prioritize important and urgently-needed changes that can be implemented quickly, while exploring the levers for deep and broad change in economic, policy, and legal structures that can be achieved with persistence over the long term. In addition to structural change, goals might include racial healing, a shared narrative on racial injustices, advancement of public understanding of the realities faced by fellow Americans, a reckoning for the past, and recommendations for a path to pursue beyond the life of the initiative. Sequence these objectives over the years of the initiative so that they will be mutually reinforcing, reach the most important aims, and maintain broad-based enthusiasm and momentum (Chapter 2).
- 3. First steps: Select a thoughtful, knowledgeable, and representative planning group. Identify values that will guide the planners' work.

 Establish communications with allied groups. Identify opportunities and challenges. Define tentatively the deliberative group and how others can fit into that process. Create the starting model in terms of leadership, members, name, institutional home, funding, and initial projects, leaving flexibility to adapt during the early process (Chapter 3).
- **4. Engage a coalition for change:** Consider the need to listen, learn, and gain support for

advancements in racial equity when choosing projects, members, language, support for community members to engage, participation options, and sequencing (Chapter 4).

This may be an ideal time for Americans to pursue this goal at the local, state, and national levels. A multi-pronged, sequenced approach has a mutually reinforcing effect.

- 5. Develop priorities for dealing with the past, present, and future: Define what a future with racial equity will be like and develop a strategy for keeping that in focus. Agree on the initiative's goals regarding understanding the past and present injustices, dealing with injustices, and educating of the public regarding them. Sequence initiatives to reflect practical issues and priorities (Chapter 5).
- 6. Determine the approach to past injustice:

 Decide whether this or a separate initiative will deliver justice for past racial injustice and, if undertaking this initiative, the timing, framing, focus, and resources for doing so (Chapter 6).
- 7. Plan and begin the racial healing: Define goals. Consider the means to reach these goals that might include reducing racial separation, storytelling, reconciling discussion groups, creating rituals, transformation of symbols, and developing aspirations for a shared future (Chapter 7).
- 8. Review a checklist: The list of questions in Chapter 8 reminds planners of choices they will make to fit their context and achieve their goals to advance racial equity.

1. Getting started quickly

Communities and regions may lose the current momentum to create a collaborative process that enhances racial equity if they do not act quickly, although they will also need to act with determined flexibility. As discussed below in this chapter, an unusual window of opportunity to advance racial equity has opened because of broader public support, deeper corporate support, and additional federal government attention to advancing racial equity, but that window may close if attention wanes. Beginning quickly seizes this moment, building on the important work and engagement of people who have been listening to and examining their community's history, traditions, current context, stakeholders, goals, and priorities. To take advantage of the moment, planners will need to engage these listeners and experts and be open and prepared to modify the process and goals as they learn more. Engaging people quickly in a peaceful process that produces ongoing change may maintain that enthusiasm to continue with the careful planning that results in deep change.

The opportunity: Two national situations emerged in May 2020 that sparked a marked shift in American public opinion concerning race and equity: the tragic killing of George Floyd under the knee of law enforcement sparked nationwide protests against police violence and racial injustice, and growing public information confirmed that the accelerating, adverse health and economic consequences stemming from the coronavirus was taking a disproportionate toll on Black and Brown Americans.¹ Millions of Americans have become a multiracial, multi-generational force, demonstrating and demanding an end to the pervasive racial discrimination, structural inequity, unconscious bias, and prejudice that are frequently called

and demanding an end to the pervasive racial discrimination, structural inequity, unconscious bias, and prejudice that are frequently called systemic racism. By summer 2020, most Americans believed that racial discrimination persisted, a switch from just months earlier when only most Black Americans held that belief.² As of early 2021, a majority of Americans still seem to support the movement for racial equity.3 In addition, it has become evident that advancing racial equity also expands the workforce and increases consumer spending.4 Businesses have increasingly announced support for enhancing racial equity.⁵ Because of corporate support and the fact that so many more Americans no longer deny the existence of the problem, change is more likely.

The precarious situation: A nascent reawakening and openness of white domestic extremists has also occurred.⁶ This creates a volatile situation that will not be addressed by a return to "business as usual."

Communities and regions may lose the current momentum to create a collaborative process that enhances racial equity if they do not act quickly, although they will also need to act with determined flexibility.

Nations around the world have encountered bitter divisions on the basis of race, ethnicity, and religion. The United States has the opportunity to learn from them but also to use its ingenuity to provide an example for other nations. As Dr. Duncan Morrow, Ulster University, Northern Ireland, explained to a gathering of U.S. process experts and leaders during the preparation of this guide:

In failing to follow the [1998] Good Friday accord with substantive efforts to overcome economic inequalities and religious segregation and deal with the unspoken role of the British government in oppression, a crisis emerged that continues to cause problems years later. Northern Ireland was saved by the skin of its teeth from Bosnian-level violence but barely. You know about the lesson and risks. Now act.

The urgent need: Advancing racial justice has been and remains urgent – what Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr. called the "fierce urgency of now." What makes this moment more pressing is the unusual confluence of opportunity in the form of broad public and corporate support to advance racial equity and threat in the form of increasing white supremacy activism. White supremacy groups will resist the work of an initiative to advance racial equity. But a well-organized collaborative process that engages communities,

equity. But a well-organized collaborative process that engages communities, public officials, business leaders, and other institutional forces has the ability to appeal to a broad political spectrum of individuals committed to racial equity even in the face of resistance. It can draw on those who understand that conflict that becomes embittered only deepens

division, avoids desirable and meaningful change, and postpones resolution of long-present issues. A commission or other initiative needs to promote effective social changes to advance racial equity and inclusion and, thereby, respond to the urgent calls for action heightened by recent events.

Iterative process: Beginning quickly to seize a ripe moment makes sense. Creating an iterative process means that those involved need to keep learning and modifying their work. Typically, those designing processes counsel to begin with an assessment of the context, goals, opportunities, and challenges. Without the benefit of this beginning assessment, those leading initiatives

will have to do that work at the same time as they move forward with designing and beginning the work of a commission. They can take advantage of the experience and research gathered by other racial equity initiatives and the research on truth commissions collected by groups such as those listed in the Resources at the end of this guide. Nonetheless, they will need to adjust the process and its goals on an ongoing basis.

A well-organized collaborative process that engages communities, public officials, business leaders, and other institutional forces has the ability to appeal to a broad political spectrum of individuals committed to racial equity even in the face of resistance.

David McIvor, Professor of Political Science at Colorado State University, explains the dilemma faced by planners: "On the one hand, it is reasonable to try to build off the increases in public awareness surrounding racial equity issues; on the other hand, I worry about setting up expectations for quick victories, given the long-term challenge of systemic change. It is a balancing act, for sure." One way to resolve the dilemma is to be frank with the public that seizing the moment means accepting some rough moments in the launch and the need for long-term persistence and steady progress. Chapter 3 discusses these "build the plane while flying" strategies.

2. Pursuing multiple objectives, sequenced over a period of years

Those creating processes with multiple aims have noted the advantage of working toward some of these goals simultaneously and sequencing others over a period of years. Immediate changes galvanize engagement in the process. Increased public understanding broadens the coalition for achieving deep and broad change. The public that understands more fully may then also support a reckoning with the past, as discussed in Chapter 5. Acknowledging and dealing with past wrongs in turn opens the door to healing. A commission charged with holding discussions, hearing witness testimony and experts, and then quickly issuing recommendations lacks this mutually or self-reinforcing cycle of action. It seems, thus, less likely to promote broad and deep change.

We believe that work in other nations and in the U.S. historically offers hope that a major multi-pronged collaborative initiative – regardless of title and whether national or local – provides a promising model for enhancing racial equity. Several cities have called their initiatives truth and reconciliation commissions, named after the celebrated South African commission.⁹ Two U.S. House bills were introduced during the last Congressional session. One would create a federal Commission on Truth, Racial Healing and Transformation to:

properly acknowledge, memorialize, and be a catalyst for progress toward jettisoning the belief in a hierarchy of human value, embracing our common humanity, and permanently eliminating persistent racial inequities.¹⁰

When discussing a process to enhance racial equity, people have expressed a variety of goals including:

Urgent action: Secure immediate changes, particularly some significant actions toward a long-term effort to address, for example, health disparities or disparate treatment by law enforcement:

Transformative change: Explore and develop deep and broad change in economic, policy, and legal structures;

Racial healing: Help deal with trauma from past and continuing inequities and enhance respect between and among racial groups;

Truth: Create a shared authoritative narrative of the past and/or current effects of inequities;

Change hearts and minds: Increase public understanding of the challenges faced by those suffering the effects of racial inequity and build a determination to eradicate racism:

A commission charged with holding discussions, hearing witness testimony and experts, and then quickly issuing recommendations lacks this mutually or self-reinforcing cycle of action. It seems, thus, less likely to promote broad and deep change.

Justice: Create a public reckoning for the historical and ongoing acts and practices of government and other institutions and their continuing effects in sustaining racial inequities; and

Recommendations and accountability: $\ensuremath{\mathsf{As}}$

the process evolves and when it concludes, recommendations for additional changes as well as a process for keeping track of results, which include direct or shared accountability of those responsible for implementing the recommendations, including public officials and the larger community.

The commission dealing with the World War II internment of civilians,¹¹ which met from 1979 to 1982, provides an illustration of such a multi-project, sequenced initiative. As the commission began its work, there was little support for providing any remedies for those injustices. Then 750 witnesses told their stories, with media coverage, and staff researched and documented injustices. Dr. Mitchell Maki and his co-authors who reviewed the commission's work and results concluded:

The commission hearings were a dramatic theater through which America could come to know the Japanese American experience and through which Japanese Americans would come to know themselves in a new way. . . . The commission hearings, along with the media coverage of the hearings and the commission's report, changed the nature of the debate. The issue was no longer whether a wrong had occurred but what should be done about that wrong....The hearings were a cathartic experience for many Japanese Americans on a personal, generational, and community level.¹²

After the commission concluded its work, Congress apologized formally, created a public education fund to help the public-at-large understand the injustice to our fellow citizens, and made restitution to discourage similar events and demonstrate the renewed dedication to protecting human rights.

Designing a multi-pronged initiative working over years requires addressing several challenges that shorter-term, more focused efforts do not face. Sustaining momentum will be important to success and will require a series of small and large successes and reminders of the urgency of the work to maintain

the commitment of participants and larger communities. Clearly, it will also be important to find sufficient and ongoing public, private, and social sector resources to support the work and a stable institutional home that won't be lost with changes in political leadership. These issues are discussed in more detail in Chapter 8.

3. Ideas for starting quickly while building in flexibility

Creating a planning group: An informed, thoughtful, and service-oriented planning group with varied backgrounds becomes critical when a quick start is contemplated. There may not be time for staff to survey and interview widely in the community and research its history, traditions, concerns, goals, and stakeholders. Nor can the planners afford

to include those who do not listen and consider the views of others. Though the group can evolve over time, there are advantages to making the best choices at an early point. People will be deciding whether to

An informed, thoughtful, and service-oriented planning group with varied backgrounds becomes critical when a quick start is contemplated.

trust the process based on what they first hear of it; some trust may be lost if the membership does not represent the racial and other diversity of the community. The initial membership list may also communicate to the public whether this will be a serious endeavor in terms of having the power to bring about needed change.

Broad public support for the process will depend on whether varied constituencies believe the initiative worthwhile based on the composition of the planning group and the way that it works together. New media coverage of "squabbles" will potentially divert the public and undercut the seriousness of the initiative.

People who are posturing to serve private interests or have prickly personalities can cause other members to quit. To avoid these results, two over-arching questions might usefully be weighed about potential members:

Broad public support for the process will depend on whether varied constituencies believe the initiative worthwhile based on the composition of the planning group and the way that it works together.

- Is each member a thoughtful person who cares deeply about residents of the geographic area encompassed by the commission and the problems or concerns of each community within the larger whole?
- Is the group selected adept at and committed to problem-solving together to benefit the community, and to do so efficiently? Even with a skilled facilitator, personal frictions can divert a group from achieving its goals.

In addition, the following questions might assist in both deliberations and public confidence that someone who understands their views will be involved:

- What combination of people will together bring an understanding of the history, traditions, concerns, and goals of smaller groups within the pertinent area?
- What combination of members will encourage people to trust the seriousness of the process and believe both that they are represented and that their views will be heard? Who will be taken seriously by those who (1) must approve or provide resources for the new process and (2) provide support for the changes it identifies to be successfully implemented?
- Who has expertise in structuring such a commission, including dispute resolution, administrative, legal, and mental health expertise?

Tentatively list goals for the process: A planning group might fruitfully find someone to listen to their discussions and map the concerns and goals of various groups, how they overlap and differ, and priorities among them.¹³ To surface ideas of overall goals, they might create a series of questions, such as the following suggested by the Kellogg Foundation:

- What will your community look and feel like after racism has ended?
- What are the current racial realities of your community and how did you get here?
- What are the key leverage points of change in your community?
- Who are the key stakeholders and beneficiaries not at the table? How can they be engaged?
- What specific actions can be taken to achieve your vision of a community without racism?¹⁴

Examining tentative answers to these questions, the group might then consider the importance of and practical barriers to dealing with the identified concerns and goals and determine those that could be achieved early in the process. The Kellogg Foundation has published comprehensive background materials on the levers that are likely to produce change and practical approaches to promoting racial healing and public understanding,¹⁵ and these can serve as a checklist for groups making similar assessments based in the realities of their own communities.

Identify various values and assumptions that will guide the planners' work: People will work together more effectively if they share and embrace the values they will employ in the process. For example, they might agree: "We will listen to each other with a deep desire to learn." "We need to start and there is never a perfect time." "We need to involve as many residents as possible in the work of the group, but current crises cannot be ignored and we must immediately reduce residents' fears." "We will meet people where they are and work on changing hearts and minds." This discussion may help the group work together effectively as they make more narrow decisions.

Establish networks: Whether this planning group is working in a small community, statewide or nationally, it will be important to cooperate with and learn from allied efforts. A national initiative does not displace a state or local initiative. Ultimately, all are necessary to enhance racial equity and such efforts will have much to learn from one another.

Identify opportunities and challenges the deliberative group will face: Opportunities might include broad awareness of the need to enhance racial equity, a desire to reduce polarization and achieve mutual respect. Some predictable challenges are discussed in subsequent chapters.

People will work together more effectively if they share and embrace the values they will employ in the process.

Define preliminarily the deliberative group and how others will fit into the process: The focus here should be on "preliminarily." The initiative's name can be tentative. The initial list of members of the deliberative body can be augmented later. Leadership can change. New methods can be developed to involve a broader segment of the community in the work of the deliberative group. The scope and mission can be modified. Even the appointment body, staff, funding, and host can shift over time. Chris Carlson, founding director of the Policy Consensus Initiative, suggests, "If there are many issues that need to be taken up, it might be useful to think of the process as having multiple stages. At each stage when a new issue is taken up, it could require the involvement of additional people. That could slow things, but it could broaden the reach of the process."

Despite the iterative nature of the planning process, the deliberative group will reach substance more quickly if the planners provide a preliminary model for process – provisional leadership, potential members, possible name, institutional home, outreach possibilities, and initial funding—so work can begin; then they can reassess and adjust as the initiative proceeds.

4. Engaging a broad enough coalition to listen, learn, and achieve change

A high priority for Americans asking for truth commission-types of processes has been to develop and implement a narrative of a just and shared future. To create the narrative, members of the initiative's deliberative body will want to listen to those who can help them understand what must change for everyone to thrive and to feel safe and respected. In that regard, the racial justice movement

protests called attention to racial inequity and disparities in law enforcement, housing, education, and health care, among others. Economic experts have made the case that

A high priority for Americans asking for truth commission-types of processes has been to develop and implement a narrative of a just and shared future.

advancing racial equity results in expanding the workforce and consumer spending.¹⁶ The deliberative body may want to hear as well from experts who can help identify the opportunities to achieve change¹⁷ and connect that with the evidence and insights derived from lived experience.

It will also be vitally important to engage and persuade those with the power to implement desired changes. Thus, despite local protests in many communities that awakened and shook the public, private, and social sectors alike, as one truth commission expert pointed out, "It won't help to have agreement at the community level if politicians are not aligned with that outcome."

Providing an illustration of the joint gains of combining this broad array of members, the Lansing, Michigan Truth, Racial Healing and Transformation Commission (TRHT) identified the problem that Black youth were 70 percent of arrests but only 20 percent of the youth population:

The local prosecutor, a member of the TRHT Law Design Team, heard the data and said she was in a position to do something. So, TRHT of Metro Lansing has been working with the prosecutor's office and about 30 assistant prosecutors for the past year. They started by exploring implicit bias. . . . From there, the prosecutor's office began using their power to produce more racially equitable outcomes. . . . Based on this work and the deep commitment of the prosecutor to racial equity, the Vera Institute of Justice awarded Ingham County Prosecutors with a technical assistance grant. . . . All members of the Law Design Team, including the prosecutor, have participated in racial healing circles, helping them deepen trust and strengthen relationships. 18

The public-private collaboration that seems important to achieving broad and deep change creates some of the tensions discussed in this guide. Government involvement may make it more difficult to be nimble and/or achieve the trust of all groups. The combination may also add time-consuming requirements for approvals

and may be more politically challenging if opposing parties fear losing power in a zero-sum game. All that extra effort will

Economic experts have made the case that advancing racial equity results in expanding the workforce and consumer spending.

seem worth it, though, if it helps to advance racial equity in deep and lasting ways. Though this guide is directed toward initiatives that engage public officials, or are convened by them, in addition to involving others in the community, the process considerations in this guide may also be useful to initiatives in pursuit of racial equity that have narrower membership or aims.

Some initiatives that have succeeded in achieving greater equity have combined elements of both a prestigious "blue ribbon" commission and a grassroots organization and have had resources to engage experts. They have done so by being attentive to what is necessary to identify the right changes and by prioritizing that goal as they name the initiative, select members, identify the initiatives, determine a host institution, marshal resources, prepare those involved, and attend to the language and nature of communications — in virtually every aspect of planning. Here are a few examples of carrying out the goal of engaging a broad enough coalition as these choices are made:

Low hanging fruit: Securing a few important changes early in the life of a commission may provide the necessary motivation to continue with a process that seems initially uncomfortable either for those who typically work at the grassroots level or for those holding powerful positions. Illustrating the importance of securing some changes while pursing others, Sanford, Florida has been engaged in an extended process to advance racial equity, following the Trayvon Martin killing. Early discussions led to community participation in the choice of a police chief and changes in police practices. City officials learned that residents of west Sanford resented an action taken by Sanford at the state level a century earlier to dissolve and annex what had been the African-American city of Goldsboro. re-name the streets for whites, and offer inferior city services to that area. Sanford returned the street names and improved city services in that area. Andrew Thomas, Community Relations and Neighborhood Engagement Director, City of Sanford, Florida, explained, "The city continues its work, recognizing building trust, creating positive relationships and fostering a healing process takes time and resources. It's critical for local government to approach community relations the same as other city services like public works, parks and recreation, code enforcement, planning, etc. All these services require maintenance and constant attention to prevent a major expensive situation from occurring."

Membership: Choosing as members at least some people who are comfortable working in both grassroots and 'establishment' contexts may make the group more efficient. Choices to bridge these backgrounds might include faith leaders, business leaders who grew up in underserved communities, nonprofit organization leaders, community organizers, young people, and legal services attorneys. Greater credibility will come if people with lived experience of harm and inequity are members. Offering an illustration of that approach, Justice Murray Sinclair, chair of the Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada, had parents who were forced to attend one of the residential schools for indigenous children that were the commission's focus.19

It will also be vitally important to engage and persuade those with the power to implement desired changes.

Initiatives: Making it a goal to bring along others who are not in the deliberative group as initiatives go forward will keep the focus on broad engagement. Initiatives that increase equity more broadly than racial equity or which are framed as increasing racial equity to serve the common good might engage those who otherwise feel no reason to become involved. Task forces to create uniformly strong educational and health care opportunities may illustrate initiatives most can embrace and that will contribute to racial equity. An economist's analysis that racial inequity is a drain on community prosperity may engage a larger group in the work of the initiative and produce a "solidarity dividend" for all.²⁰

Word choice and framing: Using word choices that adequately convey meaning but reduce alienation from the initiative might help retain a broad enough group to achieve change. While in 2021 it is difficult to avoid discussing racial equity and racial justice without words like "systemic "racism" or "white privilege," for some communities these terms trigger strong negative reactions. Careful consideration should be given to when and how to address "the elephant in the room" without preventing the conversation from taking place.

Some researchers regularly test words for reactions by people with varying political views or for their effectiveness in building broad support for change on difficult social issues.²¹ Their findings can help frame issues as important for attention and action and avert immediate rejection of the initiative as partisan. Checking the wording and framing with various constituent groups can help maintain broad engagement.

Awareness of power dynamics: Throughout the process, it will be important to be self-aware as a working group of disparities in perceived and real power, resources, and influence of members. This will enable intentional efforts to include those who may be more reluctant to voice their views. Similar attention to existing community power dynamics is necessary to enable outreach efforts, make space for constructive viewpoints not represented, and empower the public, business, and social sectors creatively to address racial inequities.

Support: Providing support and preparation will help people with lived experience contribute to the initiative. Discussions of race can evoke painful memories and some will experience trauma. For example, the Japanese American Citizens League allowed the witnesses for the World War II internment commission to practice their testimony beforehand, and social workers provided emotional support for them. Trauma-trained facilitators may also help. Other considerations may be whether some members of the deliberative body may need help in preparation for their roles or require compensation to be able to participate.

Know those who oppose the commission:

Developing a means to stay in touch with those groups objecting to either the initiative's work or recommendations may reduce the likelihood of unexpected resistance and prevent opponents from acting on false rumors. If there are racist or violent groups, rather than reaching out to engage them, it may be possible to find intermediaries, such as the Justice Department's Community Relations Service or law enforcement, who know

these groups and will stay in touch with them, explaining the process to them and listening for their plans.

Combine with healing: Combining the concepts of change and healing may engage those who want to achieve unity but do not agree on the need or urgency for or direction of change. The Kellogg Foundation refers in its publications to both change and unity, calling the initiative a "truth, racial healing and transformation" commission and noting throughout their documents the connection among the aims.

Participation options: Offering a variety of ways that people can engage, seeking to attract voices otherwise unwilling or unable to participate because of technology, unequal power dynamics, fear of trauma, etc. Creating options will also expand those involved in the work and thus in the solutions. Circle processes, for example, with carefully facilitated discussions among those who agree in advance to listen intently, may appeal to some community residents and can be used as ways to learn about their experiences and concerns.²² Workshops, subcommittees, and task forces can offer additional opportunities to expand participation. Dr. Alex Lovit, a historian who studies deliberative democracy at the Kettering Foundation, points out,

As American politics have become increasingly polarized, any public conversation about public issues incurs risks of becoming mired in partisan division. Theorists and practitioners of deliberative democracy can provide some guidance in how to avoid these pitfalls. This process will be more likely to be productive if it is based in a widely shared understanding of a public problem, considers a broad set of potential approaches, and includes frank discussion of the tradeoffs of each of these approaches. These suggestions will help to ensure that participants with diverging opinions can all see a role for themselves in the conversation.²³

5. Dealing with the past and present without losing momentum toward a better future

Dilemmas will likely emerge regarding how extensively to focus on the past and its continuing effects in a commission seeking change, public understanding, and healing in the future. Change is by its nature forward-looking, and people often can agree on changes even if they do not agree on why they are needed. Examples of this future orientation include public policy planning (Name the problem; solve it.) and mediation (Hear the parties' stories, state the issues, reach consensus on the future.).

Unlike these situations, however, an initiative to improve racial equity operates in the context of centuries of slavery and discrimination, creating an imperative to acknowledge the tragic history and continuing legacy of inequities in America. Kyle Strickland, Deputy Director of Race and Democracy, Roosevelt Institute and Senior Legal Analyst at the Ohio State University Kirwan Institute for the Study of Race and Ethnicity, said, "For too long, we've ignored the truth of racism. There will always be the rush to get to change,

but without truth we will not get there." Such a record may also be required to build broad public understanding of what fellow Americans faced and face with a call to end and not to repeat these injustices. As truth commission experts Eduardo Gonzalez and Howard Varney put it, "The truth can assist in the healing process after traumatic events; restore personal dignity, often after years of stigmatization; and safeguard against impunity and public denial."24 Local and even state commissions can draw on the work of others to portray the national context but can more manageably take on understanding the nature and history of racial inequity "locally." For example, the Evanston, Illinois city council engaged with others to write a well-documented history of its own community, detailing the lingering economic and other effects of that discrimination, particularly in housing, services, and financing.²⁵

In addition, developing a clear picture of the current barriers to achieving racial equity is a prelude to identifying strategies for change. This picture will include careful descriptions of the nature of those inequities, for example, in health care, housing, policing, and education

and analysis of the data, policies and practices that sustain them. Attention to the present, thus, can usefully be interwoven with efforts to define a better future and routes to achieving it. Description and analysis of contemporary inequities need not dwell on attribution of motivations or blame, however, when doing so may build barriers between advocates for change and those who may be reluctant to embrace those changes as noted below.

Change is by its nature forward-looking, and people often can agree on changes even if they do not agree on why they are needed. But an initiative to improve racial equity operates in the context of centuries of slavery and discrimination, creating an imperative to acknowledge the tragic history and continuing legacy.

But the necessary narratives on the past and present may also raise challenges to agreeing on what should be the nation's, state's, or city's shared future. One challenge may be how to make the account authoritative so that it is widely accepted.²⁶ Another is that some people —typically those who have not experienced the injustices —will resist what they view as shaming or divisive discussions leading to the historical and current account.²⁷ (Desires for a reckoning for past or current wrongdoing raise additional, and overlapping, issues that will be the focus of the next chapter.) These differences may claim much of the attention and resources for the initiative and sow dissent among those participating in the deliberations, diverting them from working toward change.

Though there are no simple recipes for dealing with these counter pulls, illustrations from other initiatives may inform planners as they make choices for initiatives for their communities:

Understanding the reasons for examining the past: The Kellogg Foundation has found phrases that may be helpful: "how to create a more complete and accurate narrative that will help people understand how racial hierarchy has been imbedded in our society" and "a new narrative about who we are as a country and as interconnected individuals."²⁸

Restorative justice: The Nova Scotia Restorative Inquiry regarding a home for children of African descent described what occurred in the past and its effects, explaining, "The Restorative Inquiry looked back, not to ascribe blame, but to shed light on the history and experience of the Home in order to learn from it and move forward into a brighter future. The Report reflects this commitment to look back and learn to make a difference for the future."²⁹

Findings of injustice and individual stories: The U.S. commission dealing with World War II internment issued unanimous findings about what occurred to Japanese Americans and Aleutians, concluding that the government denied justice. In addition, the commission held hearings at which hundreds recounted their personal stories. (For a discussion of the care taken to help those telling their stories, see Chapter 7.) Reaching the public is hard work. This healing will be hard work. Justice Murray Sinclair, chair of the Canadian Truth and Reconciliation Commission, told the New York Times that reaching people on an individual level was like "climbing a mountain." "The Canadian people need to see what it is that they could be doing, that they have a role to play here," Justice Sinclair said.

Historical commemoration: Some groups, such as "Facing History and Ourselves," are already at work in the U.S. to educate young people particularly on the connection of history to current events. ³¹ Canada recognized a distinct continuing role for keeping the history alive by creating a new federal agency that, even today, continues to award funds for commemorative activities regarding Canada's tragic mistreatment of its indigenous peoples. In addition, the government funded the Canadian Truth and Reconciliation Commission with instructions for it to recount this history. In its final report, the commission spoke to the healing value of historical findings and stories for both indigenous and settler peoples:

To the Commission, reconciliation is about establishing and maintaining a mutually respectful relationship between Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal peoples in this country. In order for that to happen, there has to be awareness of the past, acknowledgement of the harm that has been inflicted, atonement for the causes, and action to change behavior.³²

Sequencing: If an initiative begins by imagining a shared future drawing on members' values, it can then look backward to understand continuing barriers to that shared future. Thus, the necessary examination of extent, character, and sources of racial inequities might follow agreement on a shared vision of an equitable future.

6. Justice as part of the work

People often seek a truth commission-style approach with the idea that it will help to achieve justice for past and present racial injustices. A commission in the United States might be expected to offer vindication, acknowledgement and/or economic reparations for past injustices. Dr. Nomfundo Walaza, a South African psychologist and truth and reconciliation scholar, passed on the following story to illustrate why it just feels wrong to leave justice for past and current wrongdoing out of the work of a commission:

Once there were two boys, Tom and Bernard. Tom lived right opposite Bernard. One day Tom stole Bernard's bicycle and every day Bernard saw Tom cycling to school on it. After a year, Tom went up to Bernard stretched out his hand and said, "Let us reconcile and put the past behind us." Bernard looked at Tom's hand and said, "And what about the bicycle?" "No," Tom said, "I am not talking about the bicycle. I am talking about reconciliation."

This can be read as a story about an individual wrong and the absence of redress for it in the quest for reconciliation, but it can also be read as a tale about collective wrongs and the importance of dealing with those wrongs before reconciliation can occur.

property and were incarcerated in prison camps during World War II, often for years, received \$20,000 in reparations more than 45 years later. In addition, talk of cash reparations at the launch of an initiative may alienate some of those

Reparations have had a rockier road in past commissions than vindication or acknowledgements of past wrongs.
Calls for monetary reparations to individuals seem to create such controversy that those potential allies needed to achieve change may resist the initiative's work. The amount of such cash reparations may seem ridiculously low (or excessively high), the target group may seem too narrow, broad or ill-defined to some observers, given the level or duration of injustice. Japanese American civilians who lost

A commission should do its best even though it can never do enough to satisfy fully those who have suffered from the injustice.

who might otherwise engage, and the subject creates a controversy that could swallow the energy that might be devoted to deeper change. Still, the increase over time in the number of Congressional members who support reparations for slavery and continuing discrimination indicates that goal may be achievable.

A few illustrations may offer ideas for those initiatives seeking to pursue reparations:

Timing: One way to reduce the likelihood of immediate opposition to creation of a commission is to allow reparations to grow out of rather than be the initial basis for such a process. The downside of this approach of allowing reparations to grow out of a research initiative though is that some may not take the process seriously if reparations are not part of the stated starting aims. Evanston, Illinois's 2020 decision to award reparations in the form of housing grants of \$25,000 arose from a long-term and publicized study of the effects of housing discrimination and related practices on wealth accumulation. The city will begin later this year to consider applications for the grants to African-American residents who resided in Evanston from 1919 to1969 or their descendants. The tax will create a \$10 million fund for this purpose over the next decade by imposing a new 3% sales tax on marijuana sales.³³

In a similar vein, when the U.S. Commission on Wartime Relocation and Internment of Civilians began its work, there was little Congressional support for reparations for the Japanese American citizens interned during World War II. But after the Commission issued its reports detailing the injustices and hundreds of compelling stories on the effects, Congress overwhelmingly approved the reparations.³⁴

Separating the initiatives: Canadians took yet another approach to former First Nation students forced to attend "Indian Residential Schools." It separated the issue of financial reparations to individuals and families from the creation of the Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada. Thus, the commission could proceed without the controversy. After the Commission issued its final report, the Canadian government provided the reparations.

Framing: Language matters here as elsewhere. Reparations suggest individual compensation, but, as the bicycle story suggests, compensation can be viewed as collective rather than individual. Focusing on repairing the inequities that were created over generations opens up the possibility, for example, of allocating resources for communities left behind by racial inequities. And describing that compensation as investments in communities to reduce racial inequities has a different ring than cash payments to individuals as reparations. Massive financial investments will be required to buttress asset development among African-Americans and strengthen communities -- a Marshall Plan of assistance for communities to facilitate change, such as investments in economic development, job training education, child care, local businesses. A narrow application of this idea was Georgetown University's decision to provide preferential admission and scholarships for descendants of the enslaved people who were forced to build the university.35 Such economic aid is less likely to produce backlash and may allow greater positive contributions to those suffering from the continuing effects of injustices.

Local focus and securing a new source of funding: Evanston, Illinois also provides an example of how a local reparations initiative may be more quickly successful than one at a national level. The research and report documented the damage caused by housing segregation and related policies in their own community between 1919 and 1969. Evanston residents were more likely to hear about the research and report than would be all Americans in a national initiative. Evanston residents may have observed the segregated housing or known fellow residents or their descendants who suffered from this injustice. Also, it was easier to sign on to the assignment of new funds created by a tax on marijuana sales.

This chapter proceeds under the assumption that U.S. initiatives to enhance equity and healing will focus on collective justice as opposed to finding individuals culpable for acts of violence, exploitation, or other wrongs. As the example below makes clear, a focus on individual culpability can divert attention from the larger and much more impactful effort to achieve collective justice. This collective approach may surprise some who have heard about truth commissions that acted as war crimes tribunals in nations dealing with abuses during a prior regime. The proposals to improve racial equity in the U.S. criminal and civil justice systems have taken on importance for the very reason that they provide the vehicles for individual accountability in the United States context. If during the course of hearings/proceedings, an injustice comes to the attention

of those involved in the racial equity initiative, it can make appropriate referrals to agencies to address the injustice. An Irish truth commission tried a middle ground of naming, and therefore shaming, priests who had abused children, but became mired in expensive and time-consuming procedures after affording the right to counsel and cross-examination that were deemed to be fair to offer for someone who might be shamed by a government-formed commission.³⁶ Ultimately, the commission did not name any offenders, but the effort consumed over a year of the commission's focus.³⁷

As one truth commission expert pointed out, with regard to the quest for justice, a commission should do its best even though it can never do enough to satisfy fully those who have suffered from the injustice.

7. Beginning the healing

Americans broadly support initiating the long-term process of racial healing. Because of concern that seeking healing will derail acknowledgement of inequities and advocacy for change, however, planners may decide to delay healing activities until changes have been implemented and the work toward acknowledgement has begun. Including a healing initiative in the plan for a commission may have the positive effect of broadening participation in efforts to achieve acknowledgment and change. In other words, even if greater equity is the primary goal, racial healing can be an important step to reach that goal. The Kellogg Foundation's publications nearly always mention all three types of initiatives together and include all three in their proposed name, "Truth, Racial Healing and Transformation Commissions."

Planners must decide how to define healing. Definitions of "healing" or "reconciliation" (some resist the latter term because it seems to imply a return to better times) may include increasing:

- understanding of the value that emerges from Americans' varying backgrounds and ideas,
- · inclusion of everyone in opportunities, and
- respect for each other.38

In the U.S., a definition of healing might sometimes include more unity, a version of our national motto, e pluribus unum – from many, one.³⁹ Healing might also involve a more literal meaning of the word —helping people to move on from

the trauma and hurt emanating from enduring inequitable practices. The metaphor of "healing" presupposes that the injuries have ended, as discussed in the previous two chapters and below; thus, healing initiatives need to be connected to significant change that ends the injuries of racial inequities. La June Montgomery Tabron, President and CEO of the W.K. Kellogg Foundation, defines racial healing as a process in which "we recognize our common humanity, acknowledge the truth of past wrongs and build the authentic relationships capable of transforming communities and shifting our national discourse."

The illustrations immediately below of beginning the healing work are drawn from work with a variety of racial, ethnic, and religiously divided communities. Once members of a racial equity initiative have determined its scope, they will need to narrow the focus to address the type of inequity they seek to address.

Reducing separation: Implementing policies, economic approaches, and practices that bring together people of different races may be productive of healing over time. Research consistently supports the finding that reductions in dislike and distrust occur especially when

there is extensive interaction over a period of time in which people enjoy each other and work toward common goals with equal status. ⁴¹ This seems more likely to occur naturally in situations such as schools and universities with diverse student bodies and programs. But people tend to find housing, join faith communities, and place their children in schools that are more racially homogeneous, where they feel "comfortable" rather than challenged to meet people with different experiences and backgrounds.

Even if greater equity is the primary goal, racial healing can be an important step to reach that goal.

So reducing racial separation may need to be intentional; it may mean creating the conditions for cross-racial interaction. In Flint, Michigan, a local Truth Racial Healing and Transformation Commission worked with federal housing officials when a "local public housing complex was to be demolished because it had been illegally built on a flood plain. Families living in the complex now have an opportunity to move into a brand-new housing area made up of mixed-income housing being constructed between two other active neighborhoods in another part of the city."42 Plans include efforts to build trust and friendship among the neighbors. Offering another illustration, Corrymeela, which has been engaged in community reconciliation efforts in Northern Ireland for 60 years, just completed a successful, multi-agency program called PRISM (Promoting Reconciliation & Integration through Safe Mediation). The program aimed to promote positive attitudinal change within the Catholic/ Nationalist/Republican, Protestant/Unionist/Loyalist and Refugee Asylum Seeker and Vulnerable Migrant communities. These highly segregated communities were brought together to build trust and strengthen social cohesion through a range of activities, workshops, and weekend retreats.

Storytelling: In the U.S. and throughout the world, storytelling has been touted as a means of promoting mutual understanding and catharsis. Commissions often allow storytellers to opt for either a confidential or public account, providing extensive publicity of key public stories. Commissions have created what

they believe to be "safe spaces," with counselors available both to help shape any questions and to counsel the witness. Questions from the deliberative body to the storytellers may elicit stories that help others to see with "new eyes" the challenges of being targeted or lacking opportunity.

Providing an example of helping others to appreciate suffering and injustice, Japanese American witnesses told the World War II commission about becoming "Gold Star" families while detained, mourning the loss of a child dying while protecting the nation that placed their families in confinement. As the result of the publicity regarding statements by witnesses and the Commission's report and recommendations in 1983, Congress in 1988 and 1992 apologized formally, created a public education fund to help the public at large understand, and made restitution to discourage similar events and demonstrate the renewed dedication to protecting human rights. The Commission had healing effects on the Japanese American community. Ron Wakabayashi, who in the early 1980s was national director of the Japanese American Civic League, which was the established national advocacy organization within the Japanese American community and occupied a lead position in the creation and work of the commission, said:

[Storytelling] becomes a tool for the formation of a shared public identity. The process becomes replicated in communities in casual conversation. Frequently, public testimony touches on suffering and regret. This transformative outcome of a commission may be the most easily overlooked. And, yet, it may be the most consequential in a restorative sense.

He noted that a telling indication of the healing was that the Japanese American Citizens League was one of the first after the 9/11 terrorist attacks in 2001 to exhort Americans not to target Muslims and 300 Japanese Americans provided written testimony for the U.S. House committees first hearing on convening a commission to study reparations for slavery and discrimination.

The following account illustrates the potential public understanding and cathartic effects of storytelling, and the importance of empathic and well-placed members.

Four South African victims of apartheid were invited to talk about their experiences. One of them was Albie Sachs, who spoke of the trauma of having an arm and an eye blown away by a bomb that South African agents had placed under his car in Maputo, the capital of Mozambique. Then came the turn of Mrs. Gcina, the widow of a small town lawyer whose only political activity was representing community leaders who were brought to court under draconian apartheid security laws. She spoke of how the security police had terrorized her and their young

children with midnight raids and repeated detentions of her husband. One day after the police had taken away her husband for the final time, she heard on the radio that his bullet-

Storytelling has been touted as a means of promoting mutual understanding and catharsis.

riddled body had been found in a field some distance from their home. When Mrs. Gcina described how her twelve-year-old son came to her and asked when his father would be home, her composure dissolved and she began to weep. No one who was present will forget the scene of Albie Sachs attempting to console Mrs. Gcina with the stump of his right arm.

[T]he following morning at breakfast ... I complimented her on her courage in coming to speak of her experiences. She responded by expressing her gratitude for having been able to do so: "You know, Judge, last night was the first night since I lost my husband that I have slept through and not been awakened by nightmares." When I asked her how she explained that, she responded without a moment's hesitation: "There were so many important people here who were interested in hearing my story."43

The healing value of storytelling may extend to persons who have not been targeted. For example, white persons who are invested in the "American Dream" of opportunity for all who work hard to succeed, may need to listen to stories in order to recognize its failures and work toward making it real. Storytelling by whites who acknowledge and apologize for their own racial stereotyping or racist acts and show appreciation for the human and social costs resulting from such worldviews and behavior may help other whites recognize the need for change.

Encouraging small group facilitated discussions on an equal basis: From its first days, Corrymeela, Northern Ireland's oldest peace center, has been a place of gathering, work, faith and discussion; bringing people of different backgrounds, different political and religious beliefs and different identities together. They believe in the strength of gathering, of courageous speaking and listening. As part of their efforts, trained facilitators host weekend retreats and community dialogues, creating hospitable spaces that are safe, welcoming, inclusive.

In the United States, stories of racial oppression and inequality have been widely told in literature, news media, and other venues for several hundred years. One challenge had been a lack of wide

A challenge for a commission will be to make the deeply imbedded sources of racial injustice accessible to a broad audience.

reading or acceptance of those accounts. The ubiquitous video of the George Floyd killing, of a policeman squeezing the life out of a Black man handcuffed and pinned on the ground, was one such story that broke through to a global audience with significant effect on public understanding, in part because it was seen as illustrative, not an isolated event. Similarly, encounters recorded on cellphones and body cameras, shared in social media and mass media, tell the story that some Black and Brown people are threatened and killed, because people perceive them to be unfamiliar, fearsome, and threatening. Depending on the locale, the racial and ethnic group members who feel targeted will vary and thus those who ask to or are invited to tell their stories. Additional storytelling that conveys a larger picture extending beyond the individual accounts may continue to play a valuable role in awakening public understanding and promoting support for enhancing racial equity. Much of racial injustice, however, is not clearly visible in dramatic visual representations. A challenge for a commission will be to make the deeply imbedded sources of racial injustice accessible to a broad audience.

The initiative's use of communications professionals can aid in achieving these storytelling goals. Justice Murray Sinclair, chair of the Canadian Truth and Reconciliation Commission, said, "When you come through an event that is emotionally that challenging, a healing moment occurs for the person who has told you their story, but also for you as the one who has accepted the story. So you have to know how to make that moment understood in the proper way. . . .[T]he most important part of it was to publicize the testimony to bring the hearings into the living rooms of the people."

Rituals and symbols: Healing may also result from shared experience with support from others for the rituals and symbols valued within a group. The Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada held a number of celebrations that involved the commission members and other settler Canadians joining in the First Nations Canadians' in attending dancing and other First Nations' rituals. As Dr. Dominic Bryan, Queen's University, Northern Ireland explains, public spaces can also be the arena or vehicle through which conflict becomes enacted, citing parades, memorials, and museums as critical spaces where power is enshrined, narratives are captured, and boundaries are marked. Alternatively, however, these spaces can become intentionally and deliberately transformed into sites that celebrate and promote "good relations," and where inclusive events are held, i.e. that spaces for resistance becomes acceptable "shared" space for civic representation. 45 The deadly conflicts in Charlottesville, Virginia in 2017 related to white supremacists marching to prevent removal of Confederate monuments and statutes, but other communities have removed divisive symbols, in order to promote healing, even before a controversy arose.

Attention by others to what is missing for some: Once an initiative identifies what is missing for some, the deliberative body's success in ameliorating that problem can contribute to healing. The Greensboro Truth and Reconciliation Commission, convened by residents to look into a mass shooting of anti-Ku Klux Klan demonstrators by white supremacists, devoted eight weeks to a facilitated discussion of how to create a Greensboro in which everyone felt respected, safe, and protected. It then made recommendations of how to achieve those goals. Chapter 4 discusses this focus on building a shared vision of an equitable future as a first step toward achieving change.

8. An Operational Checklist

In the iterative process of planning and modifying the initiative, taking action steps for change, and assessing the racial inequities and measuring progress, it may be helpful to have a checklist nearby. The answers will vary as each community tailors its initiative to its context, goals, opportunities, challenges

and more. Ron Wakabayashi, former regional director for the U.S. Department of Justice Community Relations Service, worked closely with both the U.S. Commission on the Wartime Relocation and Internment of Civilians and with

Ultimately, each initiative will need to be tailored to be responsive to the goals and special character of the community or state in which it is located.

community division. He says about developing a process unique to each community: "There are multiple dynamics that interact. The particular history and legacy; developmental stage and sequence; degree, character and extent of community infrastructure and organization, will shape the path and form of initiatives at different locations and levels."

The ongoing assessment:

- A. Goals, concerns and problems: What can the initiative learn about the racial inequities, concerns, and/or goals dividing or uniting residents, their history, the interests and values implicit in them, and the sources of distrust, anger, grievances, perceived injustice and/or division? How can it track shifts in those perceptions over time as the commission does its work? How can it track the implementation and impact of change efforts?
- B. Stakeholders: Who are the stakeholders and who understands the racial inequities, concerns, and/or goals important to each stakeholder, is effective in conveying them, and is trusted by those involved? Included in "stakeholders" are those groups, bridge-builders, and persons with expertise and other resources needed for major change across a broad spectrum of arenas; who are the decision-makers who can enact (and resist) changes in policy and practice and allocate resources to implement those changes?
- C. Allied processes: What processes exist and/ or have been used regarding racial inequities, concerns, and/or goals and what are the strengths and weaknesses of each? Are there processes or practices that have worked in the past to achieve change? Are there existing processes with capacity to achieve some of the initiative's goals? Should there be coordination with these or, at a minimum, efforts to avoid competition or conflict?

The planning group:

- D. Questions related to all members: Is each a wise and thoughtful person who cares deeply about residents of the geographic area encompassed by the initiative and the racial problems or concerns of each community within the larger whole? Is the group selected able to work well and efficiently together? What preparation and support will they need?
- E. Questions to create an effective combination of members: What combination of members will encourage people to trust the seriousness of the process aimed at enhancing racial equity and believe that their views will be represented on it? Who has expertise in structuring such an initiative, including dispute resolution, administrative, legal, and mental health expertise? Who has influence with those who must approve or provide resources for the new process and provide support for the changes it identifies to be successfully implemented?

Setting goals:

- F. Initial questions: What is your vision for a more equitable community? What would have to change for each person, regardless of race, to thrive and feel protected and respected? What would you like this initiative to accomplish?
- **G. Likely reach:** What is the geographical area and likely subject matter focus of the initiative? Here members of the initiative should trust

their collective intuitive understanding, based on listening and recognize the specific opportunities and challenges operating in their communities. The Kellogg Foundation offers a list that might prompt local ideas. The list includes separation by segregation or concentrated poverty that may affect housing, health, arts, immigration, and education; law and public policy related to safety forces, the justice system, sentencing, immigration, and education; and economic issues in employment, wealth, immigration, and education.⁴⁶

Considering opportunities and challenges:

H. Additional considerations for the planning: What could go right or wrong as the initiative works to achieve the identified goals? What can be done to take advantage of the opportunities? What shared values will bind the members to their mission when challenges present? How might the initiative meet the challenges?

Organizational issues:

- I. Convener and host: What institution(s) should convene the initiative and what institution(s) should house the initiative? Does the institution have the access to and trust of those who have the capacity to bring about change and participate in promoting racial understanding, healing, and other goals? Does the institution, or the individual conveners, have access to and the trust of grassroots leaders in the community(ies) adversely affected by inequity? Can the institution marshal resources for a deep and multi-year initiative effort? Do the institutions convening or housing the initiative convey the seriousness of the effort? Will they bridge political changes? Will the convener and convening institution continue to support the initiative if controversy and resistance develop?
- J. Scope and mission: What is most important to achieve? How can this be worded to engage a broad group of people? Does the community's mission to effect change match its influence and geographic reach? Is it broad enough to make a significant difference but narrow enough to accomplish?

- K. Name: What name will clearly convey its mission? What name communicates the seriousness of the endeavor? What name makes it clear that this is about change and not only about racial healing (e.g., the proposed U.S. Initiative on Truth, Racial Healing and Transformation)? What will engage the broadest group of people?
- L. Leadership: Who will generate both trust and regard for the initiative? Who is/are both inspirational and pragmatic/get-it-done leader(s)? Is there a way to de-politicize this position? If there is no consensus "ideal" chair candidate, should there be more than one chair? As mentioned under Point I above, how will the leader(s) and convening institution be supported when controversies arise? Because the initiative will continue for some time, Chris Carlson, founding director of the Policy Consensus initiative, notes that elected leaders may change and suggests asking whether cross-sector (public/private/civic) coleadership might be useful.
- M. Members: What is the decision-making process for selecting the members? What is the optimal size? Who should decisionmakers check with before identifying initiative members? See also the questions in D and E related to the planning group.

Those willing to listen carefully and act wisely and with persistence may have the lifelong satisfaction of having advanced racial justice.

- N. Preparation and ongoing support to maintain momentum: What sort of process should be used to prepare members of the deliberative group to understand and clarify roles, become better equipped, minimize rivalries, unite under a shared vision/mandate, work together as a team and support each other? Should there be continuing storytelling and other processes to maintain cohesion and responsiveness to concerns? What should be done to maintain teamwork and personal connections, especially as issues become tense? Should there be transportation or compensation help for those who cannot afford to volunteer their time?
- O. Staff: Successful truth commissions have had extensive staff assistance. In fact, staff

support in the World War II internment commission discovered important evidence/ precedence that drove favorable outcomes in court and commission proceedings. Given the aims and scope, what research and data gathering should be undertaken and subject matter expertise engaged? What staff will be needed to provide necessary data and expertise? What staff can work to engage the broader public? What staff is needed for communications with the public and others, including those who might oppose the work of the initiative? Chris Carlson points to another question, given the critical nature of communicating with the wider public: Who are skilled communicators who can establish regular channels of communication with credible media? Is there easy access to social media experts, both to observe public reactions and to reach those who receive news through social media?

- P. Duration, resources, and funding: Is this a multi-year effort with decisions on duration to evolve? What resources and funding are needed? How can these resources and funds be procured? Will the initiative have any statutory authority (e.g., subpoena power, public funds allocation)?
- Q. Range of activities: What initiatives should be undertaken? How should these activities be prioritized and ordered? Will it engage more people to deal with change proposals first before adding additional initiatives focused on increasing public understanding and promoting healing?
- R. Public engagement: How should the initiative engage the public in its work? Should it have working groups, committees, storytelling, deliberative democracy events, and/or commemorative activities? How can the initiative provide greater access to, transparency and awareness of activities, and can technology be leveraged to achieve those goals? How can everyone be made to feel supported and respected and offered counseling when their involvement might trigger past trauma?
- S. Public understanding: Are there means to help a broader group of people understand each other and the challenges each faces

by finding new ways to communicate with them (e.g., social media, photos, art)?⁴⁷ Should any aspect of its work be confidential? What portions will be open to the public? How will public perception and the influence of media be managed, included, leveraged (see point O regarding staff)? What are the words or phrases that will trigger negative responses by some persons and might lead to their not being engaged?⁴⁸ Should these terms be used nonetheless or avoided?

- T. Effective meetings: Who will set agendas and facilitate the meetings? What training and support will be necessary to make these meetings cohesive and effective? Will there be additional facilitators or social workers to attend to people who will be telling emotional stories and may experience trauma, and to suggest appropriate questions for the deliberative group? How will the group make decisions (consensus, majority rule, etc.)?
- U. Allied groups: How will the initiative learn from and interact with allied groups within the same geographic area? How will it learn from and work with similar initiatives elsewhere, including the federal initiative that is evolving as we go to print?⁴⁹ How can it document its progress to share with allied efforts?
- V. Accountability and effectiveness: How will the initiative's progress be measured on an ongoing basis? How will progress be measured for specific desired outcomes and changes? What indicators will be used to assess progress? Who will be keeping records?

Following this chapter are lists of websites that keep track of similar initiatives on the local, national, and international level, organizations that might help, and other resources.

From our research, there is no "blueprint" for a successful broad-based racial equity initiative focused on change. Ultimately, each initiative will need to be tailored to be responsive to the goals and special character of the community or state in which it is located. Still, that attention to detailed tailoring may capture the community's and the nation's opportunities and avoid the current perils. Those willing to listen carefully and act wisely and with persistence may have the lifelong satisfaction of having advanced racial justice.

Endnotes

- For example, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention report that death rates from Covid 19 are 1.9 times higher for African Americans and over 2 times higher for Hispanic or Latino and American Indian or Alaska Native persons compared to White, non-Hispanic persons. www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019ncov/covid-data/investigationsdiscovery/hospitalization-deathby-race-ethnicity.html.
- Sabrina Siddiqui, Poll Shows Most Voters Agree Black, Hispanic Americans Face Discrimination, Wall Street Journal, July 21, 2020, www. wsj.com/articles/majority-ofvoters-say-u-s-society-is-racistas-support-grows-for-blacklives-matter-11595304062; Paul Steinhauser, Majority Say Police More Likely to Use Excessive Force on Black Suspects: Poll, Fox News, June 2, 2020, www.foxnews.com/politics/ majority-say-police-more-likelyto-use-excessive-force-onblack-suspects-poll; Biovanni Russonello, Why Most Americans Support the Protests, NY Times, June 5, 2020 ("In a Monmouth University poll released this week, 76 percent of Americans - including 71 percent of White people — called racism and discrimination "a big problem" in the United States. That's a 26-percentage-point spike since 2015. In the poll, 57 percent of Americans said demonstrators' anger was fully justified, and another 21 percent called it somewhat justified."), www. nytimes.com/2020/06/05/us/ politics/polling-george-floydprotests-racism.html; Jon Cohen, CNBC/SurveyMonkey poll: Race in America, spring, 2020 ("[T] he perception that racism is a major problem is up significantly among both Blacks (+20 points)

- and Whites (+17) since an NBC News/SurveyMonkey poll in May 2018.), www.surveymonkey. com/curiosity/cnbc-squawk-boxjune-2020/.
- Deja Thomas and Juliana Menasce Horowitz, Support for Black Lives Matter Has Decreased Since June but Remains Strong Among Black Americans, FactTank, September 16, 2020, www.pewresearch. org/fact-tank/2020/09/16/ support-for-black-lives-matterhas-decreased-since-june-butremains-strong-among-blackamericans/.
- Ani Turner, The Business Case for Racial Equity: A Strategy for Growth (2018); Heather McGhee, The Sum of Us: What Racism Costs Everyone and How We Can Prosper Together (2021).
- See, e.g., Gillian Friedman, Here's What Companies Are Promising to Do to Fight Racism, NY Times, August 23, 2020, www.nytimes.com/article/ companies-racism-george-floydprotests.html.
- Tom Lyden, White Riot: The Threat from Domestic Violent Extremism, Fox 9, KMSP, February 22, 2021; Zolan Kanno-Youngs and David E. Sander, Extremists Emboldened by Capitol Attack Pose Rising Threat, Homeland Security Says, NY Times, Jan. 27, 2021, www.nytimes.com/2021/01/27/us/politics/homeland-security-threat.html.
- Martin Luther King, Jr., "I Have A Dream," speech in Washington, D.C., August 28, 1963 ("We have also come to this hallowed spot to remind America of the fierce urgency of now. This is no time to engage in the luxury of cooling off or to take the tranquilizing drug of gradualism.).

- 8 Nancy Rogers, Robert Bordone, Frank Sander and Craig McEwen, Designing Systems and Processes for Managing Disputes 60-97 (2nd. ed. 2019).
- The list of local racial equity truth and reconciliation commissionstyle commissions grows monthly. In the Resources at the end of this guide, we offer websites that track these initiatives.
- www.congress.gov/bill/116thcongress/house-concurrentresolution/100/text. H. Res. 990, 116th Congress. The other, reintroduced in the current session, would create a Commission to Study and Develop Reparation Proposals for African-Americans. HR 40, 116th Congress.
- U.S. Commission on the Wartime Relocation and Internment of Civilians, Personal Justice Denied, www.archives.gov/ research/japanese-americans/ justice-denied.
- Mitchell T. Maki, Harry H. L. Kitano, and S. Megan Berthold, Achieving the Impossible Dream: How Japanese Americans Obtained Redress 115-116 (1999).
- Nancy Rogers, Robert Bordone, Frank Sander and Craig McEwen, Designing Systems and Processes for Managing Disputes 76-78 (2nd. ed. 2019).
- W.K. Kellogg Foundation, Resources & Lessons from Three Years of Community Collaboration 2 (2020).
- W.K. Kellogg Foundation, Truth, Racial Healing and Transformation: Implementation Guidebook (2016).
- Ani Turner, The Business Case for Racial Equity: A Strategy for Growth (2018).

- The Kellogg Foundation has developed materials with good ideas for achieving various kinds of changes. W.K. Kellogg Foundation, Truth, Racial Healing and Transformation Project, <u>racialequalityresourceguide.org</u>, healourcommunities.org.
- ¹⁸ W.K. Kellogg Foundation, Resources & Lessons from Three Years of Community Collaboration, Knowledge Brief #6: The Law 3 (2020).
- Justice Murray Sinclair's parents lived residential schools experience, The Canadian Press, June 1, 2015, globalnews. ca/news/2028578/judge-murray-sinclairs-parents-lived-residential-schools-experience/.
- ²⁰ See, e.g., Heather McGhee, The Sum of Us: What Racism Costs Everyone and How We Can Prosper Together (2021).
- Frameworks Institute, What We Do, https://www. frameworksinstitute.org/ about/what-we-do/; Listen First Project, Braver Angels, https://braverangels.org; E Pluribus Unum, www.unumfund. org; Voting Rights Lab, votingrightslab.org; More in Common, www.moreincommon. com; Democracy for President, democracyforpresident.com/ topics/how-do-we-cometogether/.
- Sharon Press, Using Dispute Resolution Skills to Heal a Community, 35 Ohio St. J. of Dispute Resolution 645 (2020).
- ²³ See also David Mathews, The Ecology of Democracy: Finding Ways to Have a Stronger Hand in Shaping our Future 90 (2014) ("To prompt public deliberation, a framework for decision making must accomplish several things: The framework must lay out all

- the principal options for acting on an issue... Each option has to be presented fairly. The way people feel about an option can't be excluded—and shouldn't be... And in order to be fair, the framing has to include the advantages as well as the disadvantages of each option.").
- ²⁴ Eduardo Gonzalez and Howard Varney, eds, Truth Seeking: Elements of Creative an Effective Truth Commission 115-116 (2013).
- ²⁵ Genevieve Bookwalter, Evanston Moves Forward with Housing Reparations Plan; Some Residents Advocate for Direct Payments, Chicago Tribune, December 22, 2020, www.chicagotribune.com/ suburbs/evanston/ct-evrreparations-housing-programupdate-tl-1217-20201222qbkkf2tl6nelfb5tckpucGuy4ystory.html.
- ²⁶ See, e.g., Steve Mintz, The 1619 Project and Uses and Abuses of History: How a Special Newspaper Section Can Prompt a Serious Reflection About this Nation's Past and About History Education More Broadly, Inside Higher Ed, October 28, 2020 www.insidehighered.com/blogs/ higher-ed-gamma/1619-projectand-uses-and-abuses-history.
- ²⁷ Lydia Saad, Fewer See Equal Opportunity for Blacks in Jobs, Housing, GALLUP, Jan. 21, 2019, news.gallup.com/ opinion/gallup/246137/fewerequal-opportunity- Blacks-jobshousing.aspx ("In the 2018 poll, 67% of Whites and 30% of Blacks expressed the view that Blacks have the same chance as Whites in their community to get any kind of job for which they are qualified.").
- ²⁸ W.K. Kellogg Foundation, Truth, Racial Healing and

- Transformation: Implementation Guidebook 13, 16 (2016).
- ²⁹ Restorative Inquiry: The Nova Scotia Home for Colored Children website, restorativeinquiry.ca/
- Mitchell T. Maki, Harry H. L. Kitano, and S. Megan Berthold, Achieving the Impossible Dream: How Japanese Americans Obtained Redress 195 (1999).
- Facing History and Ourselves, www.facinghistory.org/our-work.
- Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada, Honouring the Truth, Reconciling for the Future Summary of the Final Report of the Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada 6-7 (2015).
- 33 Genevieve Bookwalter,
 Evanston Moves Forward with
 Housing Reparations Plan;
 Some Residents Advocate
 for Direct Payments, Chicago
 Tribune, December 22, 2020,
 www.chicagotribune.com/
 suburbs/evanston/ct-evrreparations-housing-programupdate-tl-1217-20201222qbkkf2tl6nelfb5tckpuc6uy4ystory.html.
- ³⁴ Mitchell T. Maki, Harry H. L. Kitano, and S. Megan Berthold, Achieving the Impossible Dream: How Japanese Americans Obtained Redress 173-188 (1999).
- 35 Noel King, Georgetown
 University to Offer Slave
 Descendants Preferential
 Admissions, NPR, April
 28, 2017, www.npr.
 org/2017/04/28/526085106/
 georgetown-university-to-offerslave-descendants-preferentialadmissions; Rachel L. Swarns, Is
 Georgetown's \$400,000-a-Year
 Plan to Aid Slave Descendants
 Enough?, NY Times, Oct.

- 30, 2019, www.nytimes. com/2019/10/30/us/georgetownslavery-reparations.html
- Shalailah Medhora, Factbox: Papal Scandals in History, SBS News, Aug. 23, 2013, www.sbs.com.au/ news/factbox-papal-scandalsin-history; The Commission to Inquire into Child Abuse, Third Interim Report, 71, (2003) http://childabusecommission.ie/ publications/documents/abuse.pdf.
- The Commission Report, Volume III Chapter 2.03, May 20, 2009, www.childabusecommission.ie/ rpt/03-02.php; Christian Brothers resolve legal dispute, The Irish Times, June 30, 2004, https:// www.irishtimes.com/news/ christian-brothers-resolve-legaldispute-1.1147017.
- Divided Community Project, American Spirit Website, americanspirit.osu.edu.
- ³⁹ Divided Community Project, Identifying a Community Spirit, moritzlaw.osu.edu/ dividedcommunityproject/ wp-content/uploads/ sites/101/2019/04/Community-Spirit-4-9-19.pdf; see also americanspirit@osu.edu.
- ⁴⁰ W.K. Kellogg Foundation, Resources & Lessons from Three Years of Community Collaboration, Knowledge Brief #3: Racial Healing & Relationship Building 1 (2020).
- ⁴¹ Nancy Rogers, Robert Bordone, Frank Sander and Craig McEwen, Designing Systems and Processes for Managing Disputes 223 (2d. ed. 2019).
- W.K. Kellogg Foundation, Resources & Lessons from Three Years of Community Collaboration, Action Brief #5: Separation 2 (2020).

- ⁴³ Richard J. Goldstone, For Humanity: Reflections of a War Crimes Investigator 64-65 (2000).
- ⁴⁴ Ian Austen, He Almost Quit the Law. Instead, He Reset Canada's Indigenous Dialogue, NY Times, Feb. 5, 2021, <u>www.nytimes.</u> <u>com/2021/02/05/world/canada/canada-indigenous-people.html.</u>
- ⁴⁵ Dominic Bryan, From Civil Rights to Carnival: The Anthropology of Public Space in Belfast (2017).
- ⁴⁶ W.K. Kellogg Foundation, Truth Racial Healing and Transformation: Implementation Guidebook (2016).
- ⁴⁷ For ideas, see Divided Community Project, Divided Communities and Social Media: Strategies for Community Leaders (2nd ed. 2020), moritzlaw.osu.edu/ dividedcommunityproject/ wp-content/uploads/ sites/101/2020/06/ SocialMedia2020-1.pdf; W.K. Kellogg Foundation, Restoring to Wellness: Racial Haling for Ourselves, Our Relationships and Our Communities (undated). See also W.K. www. racialequityresourcequide.org; healourcommunites.org.
- ⁴⁸ See www.frameworksinstitute. org/about/what-we-do/; and discussion in Chapter 5.

Resources

Websites listing truth commissions and other resources:

Database of Truth and Reconciliation
Commissions Around the World, maintained
by the Transitional Justice Research
Collaborative, University of Wisconsin,
transitionaljusticedata.com/browse/index/
rowse.mechanism:truthCommissions/Browse.
countryid:all (listing 58 truth commissions).

United State Institute of Peace Truth Commission Database, www.usip.org/ publications?publication_type%5b25%5d=25.

W.K. Kellogg Foundation, Resources & Lessons from Three Years of Community Collaboration (2020), file:///Users/nancyhrogers/Downloads/W.K._Kellogg_Foundation_37384%20(1).pdf.

Local Truth, Racial Healing, and Transformation (TRHT) Commissions (map of past and current initiatives in the US as of December 15, 2020) drive.google.com/file/d/1Jt0bZxsrbj3FtBvLaKLMUzPKnOIPw4s3/view

Organizations offering resources:

W.K. Kellogg Foundation, Truth, Racial Healing, and Transformation" project, racialequalityresourceguide.org, healourcommunities.org.

Divided Community Project at the Ohio State University Moritz College of Law, <u>go.osu.edu/dcptoolkit</u>.

International Center for Transitional Justice, www.ictj.org/

United State Institute of Peace Truth Commission Database, <u>www.usip.org/</u> <u>publications?publication_type%5b25%5d=25</u>.

The U.S. Truth Racial Healing and Transformation Movement, www.ustrht.org/

Readings:

Mark R. Amstutz, The Healing of Nations: The Promise and Limits of Political Forgiveness (2005).

Beyond 94: Canadian Broadcasting Corporation's ongoing monitoring of progress toward achieving the Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada's 94 Calls to Action, <u>newsinteractives</u>. cbc.ca/longform-single/beyond-94?&cta=1.

Canadians for a New Partnership, Canadian Public Opinion on Aboriginal Peoples (This study was conducted by the Environics Institute for Survey Research, in 2016), www.

environicsinstitute.org/docs/default-source/ project-documents/public-opinion-aboutaboriginal-issues-in-canada-2016/final-report. pdf?sfvrsn=30587aca_2.

Commission on Wartime Relocation and Internment of Civilians, Personal Justice Denied www.archives.gov/research/japanese-americans/justice-denied.

Divided Community Project, Divided Communities and Social Media (2nd ed. 2020), moritzlaw.
osu.edu/dividedcommunityproject/wp-content/uploads/sites/101/2020/06/SocialMedia2020-1.pdf.

Divided Community Project, Identifying a Community Spirit (2019), www.AmericanSpirit.osu.edu.

Divided Community Project, Key Considerations for Leaders in the Face of Community Unrest (2nd ed. 2020), go.osu.edu/dcpkc.

Mark Freeman, Truth Commissions and Procedural Fairness (Cambridge University Press 2006).

Al Fuertes, Storytelling and Its Transformative Impact in the Philippines, 29 Conflict Resol. Q. 333 (2012).

Richard J. Goldstone, The South African Truth and Reconciliation Commission: Its Relevance to the United States, 12(3) Disp. Resol. Mag. 19 (2006).

Eduardo Gonzalez and Howard Varney, eds, Truth Seeking: Elements of Creative an Effective Truth Commission (2013).

Greensboro Truth and Reconciliation Commission Report, Executive summary, https://greensborotrc.org/exec_summary.pdf, analyzed at www.ictj.org/publication/lessons-truth-seeking-international-experiences-informing-united-states-initiatives

The Handbook of Interethnic Coexistence (Eugene Weinger, ed.,1998).

Priscilla B. Hayner, Unspeakable Truths: Transitional Justice and the Challenge of Truth Commissions (2d ed. 2010).

Imagine Coexistence: Restoring Humanity After Violent Ethnic Conflict (Antonia Chayes and Martha Minow, eds 2003).

W.K. Kellogg Foundation, Truth Racial Healing and Transformation: Implementation Guidebook (2016).

Simon Keyes, Mapping Reconciliation paper that includes types and levels of reconciliation

static1.squarespace.com/ static/5d0d32005d7640000177b27d/t/5d6733d d0d5ff60001df2014/1567044574969/Mapping-Reconciliaiton-.pdf Thomas Miller Klubock and Greg Grandin, Truth Commissions: State Terror, History, and Memory (2006).

A. Kochansi, Mandating Truth, Patterns and Trends in Truth Commission Design, 21 Hum. Rights Rev. 113 (2020).

Michael A. Lawrence, The Thirteenth Amendment as Basis for Racial Truth and Reconciliation, 62 Ariz. L. Rev. 637 (2020).

Mitchell T. Maki, Harry H. L. Kitano, and S. Megan Berthold, Achieving the Impossible Dream: How Japanese Americans Obtained Redress 236 (1999).

Lisa Magarrell & Joya Wesley, Learning from Greensboro: Truth and Reconciliation in the United States (2010),

www.upenn.edu/pennpress/book/14526.html.

Martha Minow, Between Vengeance and Forgiveness (1998).

Nova Scotia Home for Colored Children Restorative Inquiry, Journey to Light: A Different Way Forward, Final Report (2019), restorativeinquiry.ca/report/Restorative-Justice-Inquiry-Final-Report.pdf.

Teresa Godwin Phelps, Shattered Voices: Language, Violence and the Work of the Truth Commissions (Univ. of Pennsylvania Press 2004).

Preventive Negotiation: Avoiding Conflict Escalation (William I. Zartman, ed. 2001).

Reconciliation, Transitional and Indigenous Justice (Krushil Watene & Eric Palmer, eds. 2020).

Marc Howard Ross, The Culture of Conflict (1993).

Imani Michelle Scott, Crimes Against Humanity in the Land of the Free: Can a Truth and Reconciliation Process Heal Racial Conflict in America? (2014).

Transitional Justice versus Traditional Criminal Justice? Ways of Dealing with Past Conflicts and Past Autocracies (Jorg Eisele, ed. 2020)

Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada, Honouring the Truth, Reconciling for the Future: Summary of the Final Report of the Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada (2015).

Desmond Tutu, No Future Without Forgiveness: A Personal Overview of South Africa's Truth and Reconciliation Commission (2020).

Jill E. Williams, Legitimacy and Effectiveness of a Grassroots Truth and Reconciliation Commission, 72 Law & Contemp. Probs. 143 (Spring 2009).

Acknowledgements

This guide is a joint project of the Divided Community Project, Moritz College of Law, and the Mershon Center for International Security Studies, both at The Ohio State University. The steering committee for the Divided Community Project includes: Grande Lum, Chair, Steering Committee, Provost at Menlo College and former Director of the U.S. Department of Justice's Community Relations Service; Carl Smallwood, Co-Director and past president, National Conference of Bar Presidents; Josh Stulberg, Co-Director, Professor Emeritus, The Ohio State University Moritz College of Law, and mediator in community conflicts; William Froehlich, Deputy Director of the Divided Community Project, and Langdon Fellow in Dispute Resolution at The Ohio State University Moritz College of Law; Thomas Battles, former Southeast Regional Director, U.S. Department of Justice Community Relations Service; RaShall Brackney, Chief of Police for Charlottesville, Virginia and former Chief of Police, George Washington University; Chris Carlson, public policy mediator and Chief Advisor, Policy Consensus Initiative: Susan Carpenter, complex public policy mediator, trainer and co-author of Mediating Public Disputes; Sarah Cole, Professor of Law and Moritz Chair in Alternative Dispute Resolution at The Ohio State University Moritz College of Law and Director of its Program on Dispute Resolution; Michael Lewis, mediator and arbitrator with JAMS' Washington, D.C. Resolution Center; Craig McEwen, Professor Emeritus, Bowdoin College, and social scientist evaluating mediation and dispute resolution; Becky Monroe, director, Fighting Hate and Bias program at the Leadership Conference, former Counsel and Interim Director of the U.S. Department of Justice Community Relations Service; Nancy Rogers, Professor Emeritus, The Ohio State University Moritz College of Law, and former Ohio Attorney General; Sarah Rubin, Outreach and Engagement Coordinator. California Department of Conservation; Kyle

Strickland, Deputy Director of Race and Democracy, Roosevelt Institute, Senior Legal Analyst at the Ohio State University Kirwan Institute for the Study of Race and Ethnicity; Andrew Thomas, mediator in community conflicts and Community Relations and Neighborhood Engagement Director, City of Sanford, Florida; and Ron Wakabayashi, former Western Regional Director, U.S. Department of Justice Community Relations Service, former Executive Director of Japanese American Citizens League. Kandis Sargeant serves as a fellow with the Divided Community Project. Teri Murphy is the Associate Director for The Mershon Center for International Security Studies at The Ohio State University.

In addition to the Project' Steering Committee and the Mershon Center, the following thought leaders gathered on January 29, 2021 at an event designed to share ideas with each other and also support the development of this guide. They represented a variety of areas of expertise and helped to identify the key issues and promising ideas for dealing with them. They include:

Truth commissions: Arelis Diaz, W.K. Kellogg Foundation; Laura Fernandez-Alvarez, The Ohio State University Moritz College of Law; Eduardo Gonzalez, Transitional Justice Consultant; David Hooker, University of Notre Dame: Jennifer Llewellyn, Dalhousie University, Canada; David W. McIvor, Colorado State University; Mitchell Maki, Go For Broke National Education Center; Angela Oh, Senior Attorney Mediator; Antti Pentikäinen, George Mason University Carter School; Royceann Porter, Iowa City Truth and Reconciliation Commission; T'Shailyn Harrington, Iowa City Truth and Reconciliation Commission; Marcela Velasco, Colorado State University; Nomfundo Walaza, Unyoke Foundation, South Africa.

Mediation and peacemaking: Sami Awad, Holy Land Trust, Palestine; Shona Bell, The Corrymeela Community, Northern Ireland; Gregory Bourne, Lead4Tomorrow; David Brandon, JAMS Foundation; Dominic Bryan, Queen's University, Northern Ireland; Olwyn Conway, The Ohio State University Moritz College of Law; Jodie Geddes, Coming to the Table; Chris Gelpi, The Mershon Center for International Security Studies, The Ohio State University; Duncan Morrow, Ulster University, Northern Ireland; Jennifer Reynolds, University of Oregon School of Law; Laurel Singer, National Policy Consensus Center.

Community leadership and advocacy and deliberative democracy: Jessica Baylor, The Klarman Foundation; Adam Davis, Oregon Humanities; Andrew Ginther, Mayor, Columbus, Ohio; Kim Jacobs, Columbus Police Foundation, former Columbus Chief of Police; Dawn Tyler Lee, City of Columbus, Ohio; Alex Lovit, Kettering Foundation; Noel March, University of Maine, former U.S. Marshal; DeRay Mckesson, leading civil rights activist, Black Lives Matter; Rich Nathan, Vineyard Columbus Church; Adrienne Nelson, Associate Justice, Oregon Supreme Court; Hilary Shelton, NAACP.

We thank the JAMS Foundation, the Jacques M. Littlefield Foundation, and the Ohio State University Mershon Center for International Security Studies for providing significant financial support. We are grateful to Moritz's Program on Dispute Resolution, Moritz Dean Lincoln Davies, and Mershon Director Chris Gelpi for their enthusiastic support of the project. We thank our students, Jason Ketchum, Julia Harrelson, Rebecca Joseph and Julia Sivertson, Nathan Crowell, and Salvis Jannat, who contributed in key ways while on their way to promising law careers. Using a Creative Commons license, we have pre-authorized, for non-profit purposes, distribution and printing of this guide and derivative works with attribution.



Copyright $\ensuremath{\mathbb{G}}$ 2021, The Ohio State University

Divided Community Project, The Ohio State University Moritz College of Law Program on Dispute Resolution

Josh Stulberg, Co-Director stulberg.2@osu.edu

 $\textbf{Carl Smallwood}, \textbf{Co-Director} \ \underline{\textbf{smallwood.21@osu.edu}}$

William Froehlich, Deputy Director froehlich.28@osu.edu

Nancy Rogers, Prof. Emeritus rogers.23@osu.edu

The Ohio State University Mershon Center for International Security Studies

Teri Murphy, Associate Director, Co-Director of Conflict to Peace Lab murphy.1800@osu.edu

